
 

The Transport Planning Partnership 
Suite 402, 22 Atchison Street 
ST LEONARDS   NSW   2065 

Our Ref: 18173 

27 March 2025 

WINIM Developments Pty Ltd 
Suite 214, 40 Yeo Street 
NEUTRAL BAY NSW 2089 

Attention: Ry Stephen 

Dear Ry, 

RE: WESTMEAD CATHOLIC COMMUNITY EDUCATION CAMPUS 
 MODIFICATION TO SSD-10383 - CHANGES TO OPENING YEAR STUDENT NUMBERS  
 
SSD-10383 was approved on 14 February 2022.   The approved scheme and the  
transportation assessment prepared to support it was based upon the following numbers. 
 

 
 
The approved scheme indicated that the primary school would in the opening year have 660 
students and 40 staff and the CLEC early learning centre would have 100 students and 15 
staff.  
 
It was originally envisioned that the school would open in 2023 growing to full capacity within 
10 years of operation. 
 
There have been two modifications approved since the original approval, with the most 
recently approved modification 2 which sought a number of design and landscape 
changes, which resulted in a reduction in capacity of the CELC from 200 to 120. 
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The purpose of this letter is to support an increase of the opening year number from 660 to 
840 students with the number of staff increasing from 40 to 50 and an increase from 100 to 120 
students at the CELC early learning centre with the staff number increasing from 15 to 25 (as 
tabulated below).  This report supplements the third modification to SSD-10383. 

 Approved Student and Staff 
Numbers at Opening Year  

Proposed Student and Staff Numbers at 
Opening Year 

Primary School 
Students 660 840 

Staff 40 50 

CELC 
Students 100 120 

Staff 15 25 

 
However, the ultimate numbers at the end of the project (i.e. the stabilisation year) as 
captured in the approval would remain the same for the primary school, however the CELC 
only has capacity now for 120 students at stabilisation. 
 
We have undertaken a review to assess the impact, at the date of opening, that might occur 
as a result of the proposed changes to the Opening Year student and staff numbers. 

Background 

Our original traffic report was written for the following development scenario. 

 

The approval provides a cap on the opening year primary school student number of 660 and 
40 staff and that these primary student numbers would increase to 1680 by the completion 
year (estimated to be about 10 years after opening).   

Modification 2 has since been approved - as stated above, the design changes have meant 
that the approved max capacity at stabilisation year is 120 
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To achieve the CSPD pedagogical model which accommodates classrooms in clusters of 
two classes and two teachers, CSPD is requesting that school will be 840 students and 50 staff 
rather than the 660 previously considered.  Similarly, the Early Learning CELC number would 
have a capacity of 120 students in opening year which will not be increased. . 

The OOSH and Parish Church are not part of the modification so will remain the same as the 
original proposal for the purposes of this traffic assessment. 

The traffic report for the approved scheme quoted the following traffic generation in the 
opening year from the 660 primary students and 40 staff.  It also estimated the traffic 
generated by 100 CELC students and associated staff. 

The estimates are tabulated below but the extracts from the traffic report are contained in 
Attachment 1 to this letter. 

Group Current Number of trips during network peaks 

 AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Primary School 
Students 263 298 

Staff 14 2 

CELC 
Students 30 4 

Staff 0 0 

 

We will therefore look at the traffic model in the opening year to see if increasing the 660 
students to 840 students and increasing the CELC to 120 in the opening year makes any 
noticeable difference.   

We note that the local intersection of concern is the Darcy Road – Bridge Rd – Coles Car 
park  (as this was show in the report to operate overcapacity in the opening year of 2023 
absent the scheme) so the modelling will be concentrated on that intersection in the 
opening year of 2023 with the AM peak being the most important peak hour. 

Assessment  

It is estimated that in opening year, the initial intake of students will result in the number of 
students increasing from the approved 660 to 840 and the number of staff increase from 40 to 
50 and the CELC will increase from 100 to 120 students with 25 staff. 

The previous traffic modelling reported the following traffic modelling results with the key 
intersection results edged red in the table below 
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The traffic report also explained the reason why, counter-intuitively, traffic got better when 
the development was added.  This is due to certain physical changes taking place when the 
development occurs (as explained in the traffic report and extracted below). 
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The number of traffic movements from the increased student numbers were calculated by 
factoring the traffic generated by 660 students and 40 staff up to 840 students and 50 staff 
assuming the same travel patterns.  The CELC traffic for 200 students was provided in the 
traffic report and this number will now be 120 and that number will not increase between 
opening year and stabilisation year.  This lower CELC number is reflected in the table below.  

 

Approved 2023 Proposed Opening Year 

Number of trips during network 
peaks 

Number of trips during network peaks 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Primary School 
Students 263 298 335 379 

Staff 14 2 18 3 

CELC 
Students 30 4 36 5 

Staff 0 0 0 0 

* CELC staff generally arrive outside the peak periods 

This will increase the traffic flow by 82 in the AM peak and 83 in the PM peak. 

We then added this traffic onto the Scenario 2 traffic model, and this results in retention of a 
LoS of B with an increase in delay of 1 second from 26 seconds to 27 seconds.   This is a 
negligible increase. 
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In summary, the increase in staff and student numbers contemplated by this modification, 
would result in the traffic conditions remaining generally the same compared with the 
approved scheme.  The proposed increase still remains within the total number approved for 
the completion year, however the increase in numbers needs to be accelerated based on 
additional initial demand.    

The necessary traffic strategies /mitigations will still be implemented in line with the approval. 

Summary and Conclusion 

This report confirms that the increase in initial student load in the opening year from the 
capped 660 students with 40 staff to 840 students with 50 staff and the increase in CELC from 
100 to 120 with staff increases from 15 to 25 staff, will have a negligible impact on the 
performance of the road network in the opening year compared to the approved scheme.  
Consequently, no additional mitigation measures are required. 

If there are any additional parking demands from the modest increase in students, this will 
have no effect as all of the car parking provision for the approval are conditioned to be 
delivered prior to occupation.  Consequently, parking will remain unaffected. 

Should you have any queries regarding the above or require further information, please do 
not hesitate to contact the undersigned on 8437 7800. 

Yours sincerely, 

Ken Hollyoak 
Eur Ing BSc (Hons) MSc (Dist) FIEAust CPEng NER APEC Engineer IntPE (Aus) RPEQ FAITPM MICE FICHT 
Director 

Encl.  Attachment One – Extract from Traffic Report 
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Attachment One 
Extract from Traffic Report 
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